## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

## CASE NO. 01-1127

## UNITED STATES SUGAR CORPORATION, Petitioner/Appellant,

VS.

### G.J. HENSON, Respondent/Appellee.

On Petition for Discretionary Review From the First District Court of Appeal Case No. 1D99-2798

# PETITIONER/APPELLANT UNITED STATES SUGAR CORPORATION'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

THOMSON MURARO RAZOOK & HART, P.A. PARKER D. THOMSON, #081225 CAROL A. LICKO, #435872 One S.E. Third Avenue, Suite 1700 Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 350-7200 Facsimile: (305) 374-1005

AKERMAN SENTERFITT & EIDSON, P.A. EDUARDO E. NERET, #967882 One S.E. 3<sup>rd</sup> Avenue, Suite 2800 Miami, Florida 33131

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner/Appellant U.S. Sugar Corporation files this initial brief on the merits pursuant to the order of this Court dated June 6, 2001, and Fla.R.App.P. 9.120(d). This appeal raises two issues: whether the *Frye* reliability test<sup>1</sup> should be applied when novel scientific evidence is offered in workers' compensation proceedings (the question certified by the First District Court of Appeal ("First District") to be one of great public importance requiring immediate resolution by this Court); and if so, whether the First District's decision to conduct the initial *Frye* determination itself in this case, using materials outside the record, without any initial *Frye* hearing or analysis by the Judge of Compensation Claims (the "JCC"), and without notice to the parties and an opportunity to be heard, violates fundamental due process and principles established by this Court.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>*Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923) ("*Frye*"). A *Frye* hearing and *Frye* findings are required in Florida civil and criminal litigation when a party challenges the competency of proffered medical or scientific testimony as being new or novel, and thus not generally accepted by the relevant scientific community. *Ramirez v. State*, 651 So.2d 1164, 1167 (Fla. 1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The First District's Opinion consists of the Initial Opinion ("Op.") entered December 29, 2000 (App. 1) and the Opinion on Rehearing ("Rhg. Op.") entered April 20, 2001 (App.2). The order of the Judge of Compensation Claims is referred to as "JCC Order" (R.V.26, p. 3963, App.3). At the time of this brief, the First District clerk has not supplemented the record index with the proceedings in that court, and thus there are no record cites for the Opinion or Rehearing Opinion. "R.V."refers to the relevant volume of the record below; "p." refers to the relevant pages of the volume indicated.

This Court, having been presented with the certified question, has the opportunity through this case to resolve significant fundamental conflicts in the treatment and application of *Frve* by the various District Courts of Appeal, and to give much-needed guidance to Florida courts and litigants as to how Frye must be applied by the trial court, and how District Courts are to conduct a proper *de novo* review of such *Frve* rulings on appeal. At the time of this brief, the Third District's ruling in E.I. Dupont de Nemours v. Castillo, 748 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), rev. granted, 770 So.2d 156 (Fla. 2000) ("Castillo") (which directly conflicts on several issues with the First District's decision in this case) is pending before this Court on *Frye* issues, and any decision in that case will likely affect this appeal; the Second District's recent decision in Brim v. State, 779 So.2d 427, 435 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 2000) ("Brim II") (which also directly conflicts on several issues with the First District's decision in this case) notes that district courts do not and should not have the same ability as this Court to look beyond the record in making *Frve* rulings, and suggests this is "a reason to consider certifying major *Frve* issues to [this Court]." The First District found this case to be one of first impression, and certified the *Frve* issue to this Court. The current Florida Bar Journal also notes significant conflict and confusion in this area. See Bittick, E., et.al., "Challenging the Reliability of Expert Testimony," Florida Bar Journal, July-August 2001, p. 48.

-2-

This appeal arises from a workers' compensation claim filed by a former employee alleging that chronic low-level exposure to pesticides caused phrenic nerve paralysis, a very rare ailment resulting in his permanent disability. The JCC ruled in Claimant's favor after observing that Claimant's causation theory was "basic textbook science" and "well documented." (R.V.26, p.3968, App.3).

On appeal, the First District held that Claimant's causation theory was neither "basic textbook science" nor "well documented," but was rather novel science, and that the JCC should have applied the *Frye* standards to the proffered expert evidence. Rather than remanding to the JCC for a Frye hearing and analysis, the First District then conducted its own, first-time Frye analysis, concluding Claimant's scientific evidence and expert testimony satisfied Frye. The First District's Frye conclusion makes this case one of first impression in the science and medical fields as well as the workers' compensation field, for never before has any scientific or medical study anywhere established any causal link between pesticide exposure and phrenic nerve paralysis. While the Company agrees that the JCC should have conducted a *Frye* hearing, we contend that the First District's decision to step into the shoes of the JCC and conduct the initial analysis where none had been done by the JCC, using non-record materials, without notice to the parties or an opportunity to be heard, is directly contrary to this Court's precedent, constitutes fundamental error, and violates due process.

-3-

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Respondent/Appellee G.J. Henson ("Claimant") is a former employee of Petitioner/Appellant United States Sugar Corporation, an employee-owned company based in Clewiston, Florida ("Employer" or "Company"). He worked as a mechanic for twenty-eight years, from 1968 through June 1996. (R.V.14, p.1764-66).

Claimant had been a heavy smoker for twenty years, quitting in or about 1988. (R.V.13, p.1628). Respiratory testing in August 1990 showed that he had mild restrictive pulmonary impairment (R.V.20, p.2800). He also suffered chronic bronchitis throughout the 1990's, but remained medically cleared to work through 1996. (R.V.20, p.2800).

In early 1996, Claimant began to experience dizziness and breathing problems. (R.V.13, p.1586-90). At first, Claimant's doctor thought he had peptic ulcer disease. (R.V. 13, p.1587). Claimant's lab results showed elevated glucose levels, consistent with diabetes. (R.V.13, p.1633). In May 1996, he was diagnosed not with diabetes, but with a very rare paralysis of the right phrenic nerve (the nerve that controls the diaphragm), causing the right side of his diaphragm to be elevated and thus severely restricting the capacity of his right lung. (R.V.14, p. 1763-64).

In June 1996, Claimant stopped working, and never returned. (R. V.14, p.

1764-66). However, even though he was no longer in his work environment, Claimant's condition did not improve, but rather took a sudden turn for the worse at the end of 1996. In early 1997, Claimant was diagnosed with diabetes, suffered several additional medical problems, and was close to death. In March 1998, nearly two years after he stopped working, Claimant developed peripheral neuropathies, a condition causing numbness in his feet, legs and hands. (R. V.16, p. 2185).

In February 1997, Claimant claimed workers' compensation benefits for a permanent total disability, claiming his phrenic nerve paralysis had been caused by his work environment: specifically, he alleged chronic exposure to low levels of pesticides while employed as a mechanic by the Company. Claimant sought benefits under an occupational disease theory.<sup>3</sup> He also sought benefits under an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>To recover under the occupational disease theory, a claimant must prove each of the following elements by clear and convincing evidence: (1) the disease must be actually caused by employment conditions that are characteristic of and peculiar to a particular occupation; (2) the disease must be actually contracted during employment in the particular occupation; (3)the occupation must present a particular hazard of the disease occurring so as to distinguish that occupation from usual occupations, or the incidence of the disease must be substantially higher in the occupation than in usual occupations; and (4) if the disease is an ordinary disease of life, the incidence of such disease must be substantially higher in the particular occupation than in the general public. *Lake v. Irwin Yacht & Marine Corp.*, 398 So.2d 902, 904 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1981). The First District has held that if, and only if, claimant can satisfy the third prong of the test, claimant need not show proof of a specific exposure under the first two prongs. *Wuesthoff Memorial Hospital v. Hurlbert*, 548 So.2d 771, 774-75 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1989).

exposure theory.<sup>4</sup>

Claimant's claim alleged *chronic* exposure to *low-levels* of pesticide. (R.V. 26, p. 3985). He had *no* evidence as to the dose of any alleged pesticide to which he was exposed. He did *not* claim exposure to excessively high levels of any pesticide. Moreover, the record was clear: the Company's required material data safety sheets note both a personal exposure limit ("PEL") and a threshold limit value ("TLV"), representing a safe exposure limit to which one can be exposed for forty years without harm. Claimant had no evidence showing he was ever exposed to any level exceeding the PEL/TLV at any time during his employment with the Company. <sup>5</sup>

Claimant sought benefits to supplement those benefits he was already

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>To recover under the exposure theory, a claimant must prove each of the following elements by clear and convincing evidence: (1) a prolonged exposure; (2) the cumulative effect of which is injury or aggravation to a preexisting condition; and (3) that claimant has been subjected to a hazard greater than that to which the general public is exposed. Alternatively, claimant must demonstrate a series of occurrences, the cumulative effect of which is injury. *Festa v. Teleflex, Inc.*, 382 So.2d 122, 124 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA), *rev. denied*, 388 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 1980).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Claimant's last years at the Company were as a mechanic at Runyon Farm. (R.V. 9, p.946). Although the record indicates that pesticides were used around the farm, only one event was testified to by the Claimant as causing him to come in contact with a toxin. (R.V. 9, p.978). On this occasion, Claimant testified he was sprayed by an overheard airplane while he was outside. (R.V.9, p.978). Despite Company policy to immediately report any such incident (R.V.3, p.279-80), Claimant did not inform anyone about this alleged incident until his deposition years later. (R.V.3, p.279-80).

receiving. At the time of filing his claim, Claimant was receiving Medicare and social security disability benefits (R.V.9, p.925-26), and because of his employment with the Company, he also continued to have medical insurance covering his medical expenses, and he received a Company pension. (R.V.9, p.1020-23). These benefits and pension payments continue to date. Claimant's workers' compensation claim sought additional monetary benefits, a van, attendant care, electricity for air conditioning, a cellular phone, car maintenance , and either a new house or structural modifications to his own home. (R.V.22, p.3200-01).

At the time of the workers' compensation proceeding, Claimant required oxygen continuously, and he could walk only a short distance. (R.V.14, p.1801). Claimant's medical condition was determined to result primarily from his phrenic nerve paralysis. (R.V. 26, p. 3975-76). The Company did not dispute Claimant's medical condition, but denied his disability was compensable. (R.V.19, p. 2650-70). The Company disputed benefits in this case because there is *no* medical or scientific evidence showing phrenic nerve paralysis can be caused by chronic, low-level exposure to pesticides. (R.V.5, p. 535-537; V.26, p. 3857). Claimant never exhibited any signs of an acute exposure, and there was no evidence showing that Claimant's condition could have been caused by long-term low-level pesticide exposure without first causing the symptoms of an acute exposure. The Company thus asserted Claimant's causation theory was novel, and without scientific or

-7-

medical support, and that his witness testimony advocating such a theory was inadmissible under *Frye*. (R.V.21, p.3112-3134). The Company demanded production of any and all evidence supporting Claimant's causation theory (R.V.22, p.3184-3190). When it received nothing in response, the Company obtained an order from the JCC compelling production of such evidence (R.V.20, p.2925-26). When the Company still received no supporting materials, it took depositions of Claimant's witnesses, and objected repeatedly to their testimony opining that phrenic nerve paralysis could be caused by chronic, low-level exposure to pesticides, on grounds that Claimant's experts were not qualified to give such testimony:

--On November 12, 1998, the Company took the deposition of Claimant's witness, Dr. Warshoff, and objected repeatedly, on the record, to his proffered expert testimony as not being qualified under Section 90.702, Fla. Stat. (R.V.14, p.1764; 1768; 1797; 1799-1800; 1811)<sup>6</sup>.

--On November 20, 1998, the Company took the deposition of Claimant's witness, Dr. Bowsher, and objected repeatedly, on the record, to his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Dr. Warshoff is board certified in internal medicine and practices in the area of pulmonary medicine. (R.V.14, p.1750-51), but has no specialized training in the field of toxicology. (R.V.14, p.1813). He conceded his opinion was not based on any epidemiological study or other reliable scientific principles. (R.V. 14, p. 1847-48). He testified he had never before even treated a patient for phrenic nerve paralysis. (R.V.14, p. 1814).

proffered expert testimony as not being qualified under Section 90.702, Fla. Stat. (R.V.16, p.2070; 2078; 2082;2084; 2090; 2093; 2094; 2096; 2098; 2104; 2110; 2160; 2172; 2164).<sup>7</sup> Dr. Bowsher testified that he relied on *Casarette & Doull's* Toxicology: The Basic Science of Poisons ("Casarette & Doull's") for his opinion, even though *Casarette & Doull's* makes no mention of phrenic nerve paralysis anywhere in its text. The text notes that "excessively high levels" of certain pesticides can cause "organophosphate-induced delayed neurotoxicity," (R.V.16, p. 2116, citing Casarette & Doull's at p. 658), but in this case there was no evidence of any dose, let alone excessive dose, and Claimant conceded his claim was based upon chronic exposure to low-levels of pesticides. Dr. Bowsher testified he had never observed one specific instance of any chronic exposure to a pesticide as being related to phrenic nerve paralysis. (R.V.16, p. 2133). Dr. Bowsher also conceded his testimony regarding a causal link between chronic exposure to pesticides and Claimant's medical condition was not generally accepted in the *medical or scientific community.*<sup>8</sup> He testified that he was unable to give an

<sup>8</sup>As Dr. Bowsher testified in his deposition:

Q.: Have any of your opinions concerning the causal relationship between chronic exposure to paraquate and the Claimant's problems been generally

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Dr. Bowsher is a pharmacologist who testified he has some familiarity with pesticide exposure (R.V.16, p. 2042), although his research focused on toxins and not specifically on pesticides. He treated no more than three patients per year inflicted by pesticide poisoning. (R.V.16, p. 2051).

opinion as to causation with any reasonable medical certainty. (R.V.16, p. 2094-95).

--On December 3, 1998, the Company took the deposition of Dr.

Lichtblau, and objected repeatedly, on the record, to his proffered expert testimony as not being qualified under Section 90.702, Fla. Stat. (R.V.7, p. 687; 688).<sup>9</sup>

--On December 7, 1998, the Company took the deposition of Dr.

Brown, and objected repeatedly, on the record, to his proffered expert testimony as not being qualified under Section 90.702. (R.V.7, p. 1161; 1164; 1166; 1168; 1169; 1219).<sup>10</sup>

Claimant's fifth witness was Dr. Harland, a family practitioner. (R.V.13,

p.1585). He admitted he is not a toxicologist. (R.V.13, p.1623-24), is not board certified in neurology, has written no articles on neurology, and has received no

accepted in the medical or scientific community?

A: No.

(R.V.16, p.2121-22).

<sup>9</sup>Dr. Lichtblau is a physiatrist, board certified in physical medicine and rehabilitation. He is not a toxicologist, neurologist or pulmonologist. Although finding this to be a "clear cut" case on causation (R.V.7, p.741), he admitted having *no* experience with determining causation of a medical condition such as Claimant's. (R.V.7, p. 739).

<sup>10</sup>Dr. Brown is board certified in neurology and psychiatry (R.V.10, p. 001148), but has no specialized training in toxicology. He has not written any articles on pesticide poisoning or phrenic nerve paralysis (R.V.10, p. 1177).

specialized training in neurology or toxicology. (R.V.13, p.1624). He admitted that he had no experience with pesticide exposure and its affects, and that this was "outside the realm" of his experience. (R.V.13, p.1625-26; 1647). Although Dr. Harland testified that he has treated thousands of agricultural workers, he has not treated any one of them for exposure to pesticides prior to Claimant. Claimant is the *only* patient he has treated with phrenic nerve paralysis. (R.V.13, p. 1626).

Four of Claimant's five witnesses thus had no training at all in toxicology, and none had any specialized training in pesticide poisoning. None of Claimant's experts could show that their causation theory, or their methodology for reaching their conclusion, was generally accepted in the scientific community. To the contrary, Dr. Bowsher *admitted* his causation opinion was *not* generally accepted in the scientific or medical community. (R.V.16, p. 2121-22). Each of Claimant's witnesses testified that to the extent he searched, he had been unable to find *any* epidemiological studies or case studies that linked pesticides to phrenic nerve paralysis. (R.V. 7, p.738; V. 10, p.1179; V. 14, p. 1847-48; 1860-61; V.16, p.2120).<sup>11</sup> Indeed, Dr. Bowsher *conceded* that "phrenic nerve paralysis is *not* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>As noted by the First District, "'[e]pidemiology' is a branch of science and medicine which uses studies to 'observe the effect of exposure to a single factor upon the incidence of disease in two otherwise identical populations'...[cites omitted]... Epidemiology focuses on the question of general causation, that is, whether a substance is *capable of causing* a particular disease, rather than specific causation, that is, whether the substance did cause the disease in a specific individual." *Berry v. CSX Transportation, Inc.* 709 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1998) ("*Berry*").

*linked by case study or epidemiology* to phrenic nerve paralysis in and of itself." (R.V.16, p.2133) (emphasis added). Claimant's experts testified they arrived at their conclusion through differential diagnosis: that is, by eliminating other alternatives. (R.V.10, p.1164).<sup>12</sup>

Just prior to the final hearing, the Company filed a comprehensive Motion In Limine To Exclude Claimant's Expert Causation Testimony and Incorporated Memorandum of Law (R.V.20, p.3112-34) ("Motion in Limine"), seeking to exclude Claimant's alleged expert testimony.<sup>13</sup> The Company, specifically relying upon *Frye*, challenged the scientific underpinnings (or lack thereof) of Claimant's experts' testimony and their lack of qualifications to testify as to the causal relationship between repeated low level contact of pesticides and phrenic nerve

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>See Berry, 709 So.2d at 562, n.9. Differential diagnosis is appropriate only where generalized causation is otherwise established. *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The JCC required the Employer to file its pretrial stipulation on October 22, 1998, before any of Claimant's expert witnesses had even been deposed. Thus, there was no possibility of specifically referencing *Frye* in the pretrial stipulation. The Employer did, however, identify the substantive equivalent of a *Frye* objection by stating as one of its defenses that "the alleged exposure to chemicals in the workplace is not the major contributing cause within a reasonable degree of medical certainty." (R.V.19, p.3857). Moreover, in this workers' compensation proceeding, there was no discovery cut-off prior to the final hearing, and in fact depositions continued up to and including the first day of the final hearing. The Company raised its *Frye* objections the best it could, in each deposition and by filing its Motion in Limine, objecting in a manner that put Claimant on notice that his expert testimony was neither competent nor admissible, and also providing Claimant with an opportunity to cure such objections. Claimant refused each such opportunity.

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