FILED OT ' THOMAS D. HALL AUG 2 2 2001

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# CASE NO. 01-1127

UNITED STATES SUGAR CORP.

Petitioner,

v.

G.J. HENSON,

Respondent.

ORIGINAL

BY.\_

# **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

NINA A. SACHS, ESQ. Findler & Findler, P.A. 3 Harvard Circle Suite 104 West Palm Beach, FL 33409

and RANDY D. ELLISON, ESQ. 1645 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 350 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2289 (561)478-2500 Fla. Bar No. - 0759449

#

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

Unlike *Daubert*, the standard *Frye* analysis attempts to rigorously segregate the "general acceptance" responsibilities of the trial judge from the broader "substantive correctness" responsibilities reserved for the jury. In *Rodriguez v. Feinstein*, 26 F.L.W. D1813, 1814 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA July 25, 2001), the court stated:

... to involve judges in an evaluation of the acceptability of an expert's opinions and conclusions would convert judges into fact-finders to an extent not envisioned by *Frye*, *Ramirez*, *Castillo*, or any other Florida case.

*Id.* at 1814. While this segregation may make sense in jury trials, it is impossible where the judge is also the trier of fact (workers compensation benefits cannot be

awarded unless the JCC accepts the correctness of claimant's experts).

To use USS's nomenclature, a JCC "dons a white coat" in the morning and wears it all day long, as the biggest part of his job is deciding which competing medical diagnosis/prognosis before him is the *correct* one. Fortunately, JCCs are not mere laymen (or even generalist circuit court judges), they are specialized administrative judges whom the Governor no doubt selects, at least in part, for their experience and skill in handling medico-legal issues in the worker's compensation arena.

# E. The Special Role of the Expert Medical Advisor

In *General Electric Co. v. Joiner*, 522 U.S. 136, 149-50, 118 S.C. 512, 521 (1997), Justice Breyer filed a concurring opinion which quoted from the New England Journal of Medicine's Amici Brief, as follows:

[A] judge could better fulfill this gatekeeper function if he or she had help from scientists. Judges should be strongly encouraged to make greater use of their inherent authority ... to appoint experts... Reputable experts could be recommended to courts by established scientific organizations, such as the National Academy of Sciences or the American Association for the Advancement of Science.

See also, J. Weinstein, "Individual Justice in Mass Tort Litigation," 116 (1995) (a court should sometimes "go beyond the experts proffered by the parties" and "utilize its powers to appoint independent experts").

Just three years earlier, the Florida legislature went one step better, creating a panel of "super-doctors" to effectively resolve, in a cost-effective and reliable manner,

conflicts in the opinions of medical providers. In certifying the slate of EMAs in each specialty, the Division was directed to consider the qualifications, training, impartiality, and commitment of these health care providers to the provision of quality medical care at a reasonable cost. *Fla. Stat.* §440.13(9)(a).<sup>5</sup>

Thus, any workers' compensation litigant concerned about the reliability of the medical evidence, or any JCC who feels "over his head" in resolving a causation dispute, has ready access to the Florida legislature's reliability solution, the EMA. The availability of EMAs and the fundamental guarantee of reliability which they assure, renders *Frye* testing unnecessary in workers' compensation. USS's failure to request an EMA appointment makes its *post hoc* reliability cries ring entirely hollow.

# F. The Special Standards of Proof

A claimant's burden of proof in workers' compensation cases is significantly less than proof by a preponderance of evidence. *Schafrafth v. Marco Bay Resort, Ltd.*, 608 So.2d 97, 102 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1992). Under so-called "logical cause" principles it is enough for an injured worker to show by "reasonable inference" that it is "logical" that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This provision states in pertinent part that if there is a disagreement in the opinions of health care providers then the JCC is required to appoint an EMA at the request of either party or on the judge's own motion. *Fla. Stat.* §440.13(9)(c); *Palm Springs General Hosp. v. Cabrera*, 698 So.2d 1352, 1355-56 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). An EMA must be appointed upon request where the issue is causation. *Horticulture Plus, Inc. v. Ash*, 26 F.L.W. D1791(Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA July 26, 2001). The opinion of the EMA is then presumed to be correct in the absence of clear and convincing evidence to the contrary. *Id.* Obviously, evidence which is so unreliable as to be inadmissible under *Frye* could never approach that lofty standard.

his injury arose from workplace conditions. *See, Johnson v. Koffee Kettle Restaurant*, 125 So.2d 297, 299 (Fla. 1960). The reason for this lower standard is grounded in the reason for workers' compensation – a means devised to require industry to share with society the expense of injuries caused by it. *Id.* The "logical cause" doctrine has been held to extend to so-called "exposure" cases. *See, Food Machinery Corp. v. Shook*, 425 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1983).

While the overlapping "occupational disease" cases are subject to the "clear evidence" standard, this not the same as the clear and convincing standard familiar from civil litigation. This Court has made clear that the "clear evidence" standard (while imposing a greater burden than logical cause) is still not as stringent as the preponderance of the evidence standard applied in most civil litigation. *See, Arkin Const. Co. v. Simpkins*, 99 So.2d 557, 560 (Fla. 1957).<sup>6</sup>

These lower *standards* of proof are carefully counterbalanced by additional substantive *elements* of proof (at least in the exposure and occupational disease

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In *Arkin Construction*, at 557, this Court applied the "reasonable probability" standard to an occupational disease scenario, stating:

Further, although this court does not bind a claimant to the burden of proving his claim by the preponderance of the evidence, a claimant cannot recover on mere speculation or conjecture. ... A claimant must prove a causal connection between his employment and the injury for which compensation is claimed by clear evidence.

scenarios in which these difficult scientific issues overwhelmingly arise). *See, Lake v. Irwin Yacht & Marine Corp.*, 398 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1981). It is onto this delicate balance that USS wishes to drop the *Frye* sledgehammer<sup>7</sup>.

Any assessment of the virtues and drawbacks of *Frye* in a particular context must address the arbitrary interaction between the rules of law and the rules of science, evolved for different purposes, with different approaches to uncertainty. For example, in *Brim II* at 445 fn. 48, the court noted that the FBI does not permit forensic experts to claim that a DNA match has established a positive identification until the statistical probability reaches 1 in 260 billion.

Such extraordinary certainty demands may be justified where the potential consequence of a false positive is the execution of an innocent person. However, transposing such certainty demands to the workers' compensation arena (e.g., in a case where DNA testing was necessary to show that a strain of a virus was contracted in the workplace) is difficult to justify. Put differently, *Frye* has no uncertainty knob which can be adjusted. Instead, it arbitrarily adopts the certainty levels selected by science, for science's purposes, whatever they may be. *See also, Berry,* 709 So.2d at 559

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Amici Curiae Florida Fruit & Vegetable et. al., pose a hypothetical wherein a woman and her son are simultaneously injured while retrieving her paycheck at the workplace. They ask why different standards of reliability should apply to their injuries. One could as easily ask why the two enjoy different substantive causation standards, why one gets a jury and the other does not, why one can recover damages for pain and suffering and the other does not, why one is required to use a managed care arrangement for medical treatment and the other is not, etc.

(discussing railroad's demand that scientific "confidence interval" reach 95% accuracy).

While this criticism of *Frve* also applies in other contexts, because of the lesser standard of proof in workers' compensation cases, this flaw is magnified to a far greater degree. See, Armstrong, 907 P.2d at 929 (rejecting Frye in workers' compensation for precisely this reason, despite its adherence to Frye in tort); see also, Maritime Overseas Corp. v. Ellis, 886 S.W.2d 780, 791 (Tex. App. 1994) affirmed, 971 S.W.2d 402 (1998) (applying scientific rather than legal standard of evidence would effectively create a "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard, rather than the preponderance of the evidence standard which applies in Jones Act cases); Hines v. Consolidated Rail Corp., 926 F.2d 262, 268 (3rd Cir. 1991) (lesser standards of causation under FELA can significantly influence determination of admissibility); see also, Paoli, 35 F.3d at 760-61 fn. 31 (because we are analyzing reliability for the purposes of litigation not for purposes of science, the substantive standard of causation can affect the standard of admissibility).

Cost and standard of proof problems make *Frye* especially inappropriate in workers' compensation. The central role of physicians, JCCs and EMAs make special gate-keeping unnecessary. This Court should answer the certified question in the negative (or at least hold that physician opinions offered within medical certainty are immune from such gate-keeping).

#### <u>POINT II</u>

# THE REQUESTED REMAND FOR FURTHER *FRYE* PROCEEDINGS IS WITHOUT BASIS

# A. The Alleged Procedural Errors

Unlike its position before the First DCA (where it requested *de novo* review of the merits), USS has asked this court to review only claimed procedural errors in the handling of its *Frye* motion. It has thus requested only a remand for further proceedings, not a *de novo* merits review by this Court (See initial brief at 35, 49-50). USS's reluctance to request such a review speaks volumes. Moreover, while appellate courts conduct *de novo* review of the merits of a *Frye* decision, *Brim v. State*, 695 So.2d 268, 274 (Fla. 1997) (*Brim 1*), the purely procedural errors which USS alleges as grounds for the requested remand are subject to an abuse of discretion standard. *See e.g., Kumho Tire Co., v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 152, 119 S.Ct. 1167, 1176 (1999).

In *Brim I*, 695 So.2d at 274, this Court held that an appellate court can consider scientific materials that are "not part of the trial record" in determining whether there is general acceptance within the relevant scientific community. In fact, this Court, itself, relied upon a report by the National Research Council which was not in existence at the time of trial, nor in the record even when the case was sent back to the District Court on remand. *See Brim II*, 779 So.2d at 435.

Moreover, even if extra-record review were improper, USS invited such a review

in its Initial Brief in the First DCA, attaching over 200 pages of academic materials from ten different sources (none of which had been provided to the JCC), and then instructing the First DCA as to the breadth of its review responsibilities, as follows:

> Under the *Berry* analysis, this court may independently review the expert testimony and it may independently review the scientific literature in making a *de novo* review of novel scientific theories. U.S. Sugar invites such a review.

(USS Initial Brief in 1<sup>st</sup> DCA, p.19). A clearer case for application of "invited error" would be difficult to imagine. *See, Fuller v. Palm Auto Plaza, Inc.*, 683 So.2d 654, 655 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1996); *Ashley v. State*, 642 So.2d 837, 838 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1994).<sup>8</sup>

USS filed its *Frye* motion the day before trial. It now claims that because Mr. Henson had the burden of proof he created reversible error by failing to ask for an evidentiary hearing on USS's motion. USS confuses the issue. The issue here is not who had the burden of proof, the issue is preservation of error. If USS wanted an evidentiary hearing (or the right to claim the absence of such a hearing as error) it had an obligation to ask for it. *See, Commission on Ethics v. Barker*, 677 So.2d 254, 256 (Fla. 1996) (error not properly challenged below is not preserved for appellate review).

USS also did not argue this alleged error in either of its briefs to the First District Court or at oral argument, instead raising the argument for the first time in its motion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In any event, the supposed error complained of (i.e., an alleged lack of notice and opportunity to respond) would automatically be cured by *de novo* review at this next level, but USS does not want such review, it wants a "do over."

for rehearing, *See*, *U.S. Sugar Corp. v. Henson*, 787 So.2d at 20. Once again, any error was waived. *See*, *Shell Oil Co. v. Department of Revenue*, 461 So.2d 959, 963 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1984) (issues not raised in the brief or at oral argument cannot be raised for the first time on motion for rehearing).

# **B. Harmlessness**<sup>9</sup>

There is no reason to believe that a further review would yield any different result. *Frye* testing requires only the reliability of the "basic underlying principles of scientific evidence." *Brim I*, 695 So.2d at 272. At oral argument in the First DCA, USS acknowledged that acute exposures to the subject pesticides are generally accepted to be neurotoxic. *U.S. Sugar v. Henson*, 787 So.2d at 9; *see also e.g.*, *Gronbeck v. Schweiker*, 534 F.Supp 642 (D. S.Dak. 1982)(doctors agreed that temporary paralysis on left side, could be attributed to 2-4,D exposure).

The chronic neurotoxicity of these pesticides is also well-established. See, Casarett & Doull's Toxicology, 5th ed. (1996)<sup>10</sup> (p. 15, acute exposure to agents that

Organophosphate insecticides in common use are rapidly biotransformed and excreted, and subacute or chronic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This sub-point correspond to sub-point D in USS's brief. That sub-point is apparently designed to preempt a harmless error argument, so as to "protect" its only alleged ground for reversal (the procedural errors alleged in its sub-point B). Whether one views this appeal as posing three issues or four, it is plain that USS must "run the table" and convince this Court as to each in order to avoid immediate payment of benefits. A victory by Mr. Henson on any issue (the certified question, the lack of procedural error, harmlessness, or waiver) will moot all of the others.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The First DCA quoted from the Second and Third Editions of this text (relied upon by Dr. Bowsher), as follows:

are rapidly absorbed is likely to produce immediate toxic effects but also can produce delayed toxicity that may or may not be similar to the toxic effects of chronic exposure, conversely chronic exposure to a toxic agent may produce some acute effects after each administration in addition to the long-term, low-level or chronic effects of the toxic substance; p.697, chronic exposure to inorganic arsenic compounds may lead to neurotoxicity to both peripheral and central nervous systems; peripheral neuropathy may be progressive, involving both sensory and motor neurons leading to demyelination of long axon nerve fibers; more chronic occupational exposures, producing more gradual insidious effects, may occur over a period of years, for which it has been difficult to establish dose-response relationships); *Lewis' Dictionary of Toxicology* (1998) (long-continued exposure to 2,4-D can produce severe, protracted peripheral

poisoning by virtue of accumulation of the compounds in the body does not occur. However, because several of the organophoshates produce slowly reversible inhibition of cholinesterase *accumulation of the effect* can occur. Signs and symptoms of poisoning that resemble those produced by a single high dose will occur when the accumulated inhibition of cholinesterase produced by smaller, repeated doses reaches a critical level.

*Id.* at 530(emphasis in original). USS claims that this passage is obsolete science based on the omission of this passage from subsequent editions of that text. This argument ignores the fundamental agreement of the most recent edition of the text with the basic premise of chronic toxicity and the absence of any significant intervening research development to justify such an inference of obsolescence. This is also an argument which was waived by USS's failure to make it until its motion for rehearing on appeal, as Dr. Bowsher's reliance on the prior edition of the text was clearly stated at his deposition (R. 2116-17)

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